
 

 
 

Special Environment and Sustainable Communities  
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
 
Date Friday 23 February 2024 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham 

 
Business 

 
Part A 

Items which are open to the Public and Press. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chair's 

agreement and if registered to speak. 
 
1. Apologies   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties  

5. Community Protection Service Profile and Scope   

 a) Report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change  (Pages 3 - 12) 

 b) Presentation by the Head of Community Protection                
(Pages 13 - 22) 

6. Bereavement Services   

 a) Report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change  (Pages 23 - 36) 

 b) Presentation by the Neighbourhood Protection Manager and 
Bereavement Services Manager  (Pages 37 - 58) 

7. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 

Helen Bradley 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
15 February 2024 



 
 
To: The Members of the Environment and Sustainable 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 Councillor B Coult (Chair) 

Councillor J Elmer (Vice-Chair) 

 

Councillors M Abley, E Adam, P Atkinson, L Brown, R Crute,        
C Kay, C Lines, B McAloon, I McLean, D Nicholls, D Oliver,                       
J Purvis, A Reed, P Sexton, A Simpson, T Stubbs,                       
D Sutton-Lloyd, S Townsend and R Yorke  

  

Co-opted Members 

 

Mr T Cramond and Mr P Walton   

 
 

Contact: Jill Hogg Tel: 03000 269711 

 



 

 

Environment and Sustainable Communities  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

23 February 2024 

Community Protection 

Service Profile and Scope.   

 

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 

and Climate Change 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the report is to provide members of Environment and 
Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee (ESCOSC) 
with an overview of the profile and scope of the Community Protection 
Service (CPS).  
 

Executive summary 

2 This report and accompanying presentation (attached in Appendix 3) 
provides Members with an overview of the range of services provided 
by the Council’s CPS teams which directly impacts on the environment 
and the wider determinants of health.  

Recommendations 
 
3 Members of the Committee are asked to note information contained 

within this report and the presentation and comment accordingly.  

Background 
 
4 The CPS delivers a range of local authority regulatory functions which 

protect health, safety and the environment of our local communities, 
visitors and workers. Appendix 2 provides an outline of the CPS profile 
and key contact information.    

5 The majority of work undertaken by the CPS teams is required by 
statute and involves a range of interventions that include proactive 
inspections, monitoring and sampling as well as intelligence led 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5a



activities which are undertaken in response to complaints or other 
requests for service covering a diverse range of environmental and 
health related issues.  

6 Local Authority regulatory services can make a vital impact on the wider 
determinants of health as well as health improvement and health         
protection.  Poor health does not arise by chance and can be influenced 
by differences in social, economic and environmental factors.  

7 Tackling these wider determinants of health requires focusing on the 
root causes of ill health rather than simply treating the consequences of 
poor health.  

8 Key CPS priorities include protecting the environment for future 
generations, making our economy more environmentally sustainable, 
and improving our quality of life and wellbeing by:-  

• Improving local housing conditions  

• Ensuring clean and safe neighbourhoods  

• Tackling waste and environmental crime  

• Protecting public health  

• Improving local air quality  

• Reducing Pollution  

• Reducing antisocial behaviour, crime and disorder  

• Preventing ill health and harm and reducing health inequalities 

 

9 Locally the CPS teams regularly work in partnership with other council 
services and organisations including the Environment Agency, Durham 
Constabulary, County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service 
amongst many others.  

10 The CPS is regulated by National Regulators such as Department for 
Environment Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA), Food Standards Agency 
(FSA), UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) and Health & Safety 
Executive (HSE).  

11 In addition, the CPS work extends across a broader range of 
government offices and national policy agendas under the Department 

for Housing, Levelling Up and Communities (DHLUC), Department for 
Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) and the Home Office 
(HO). 

12 Appendix 3 to this report contains a presentation to provide Members 
with information on the scope of the Community Protection service and 
the range of interventions delivered by front line CPS teams to protect 
the environment and health of our local communities. The presentation 
will be delivered by Joanne Waller, Head of Community Protection.  

Page 4



 

Conclusion  

13 This report and Appendices provides an update on the CPS service 
profile and scope and an opportunity for Members to provide comment 
on those aspects of the CPS which are delivered to protect the 
environment and health of our communities.  

Background papers 

• None 

Authors 

Joanne Waller, Head of Community Protection 

 

Page 5



Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

Not applicable 

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

Not applicable 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable 

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Climate Change 

Not applicable 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6



Appendix 2 and 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attached as separate documents 

 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Community Protection Service 
Annand House, Meadowfield, Durham 

ehcp@durham.gov.uk 
Tel:03000 261016 

 

 
 

Head of Service 
Joanne Waller 

joanne.waller@durham.gov.uk 

 
• Safer Places  
• Strategic Regulation 
• Business Compliance  

 

 
Safer Places Manager 

Owen Cleugh 
owen.cleugh@durham.gov.uk  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Neighbourhood Interventions Manager 
Graydon Martin 

graydon.martin@durham.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Horden Together  
Partnership Manager 

Derek Robson  
derek.robson@durham.gov.uk  

 
 
 

 
 

Safer Communities Manager 
Caroline Gardner 

caroline.gardner@durham.gov.uk 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Safety of Women & Girls at Night Project (SWAN) 

• City Centre safety 

• SWAN Hub 

• Safer Streets Programme 
 
 
 
 
 
Neighbourhood Interventions 

• Anti-Social Behaviour and Community SafetyTeam 

• Nuisance Action Team (inc Noise) 

• Housing Action Team 

• Public Health Nuisance and drainage 

• Private Sector Housing Standards 

• Houses in Multiple Occupation (Licensing) 

• Defective premises / Protection of Buildings 
 
 
 
Horden Together 

• Placed based locality services 

• Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM) 

• Clear, Hold, Build Initiative  

• Community Safety 
 

 
 
Safer Communities  

• Community Safety 

• Unauthorised Encampments  

• Local Multi Agency Problem Solving (LMAPS) 

• Community Action Team (CAT) 
 

 

Page 9

tel:03000
mailto:joanne.waller@durham.gov.uk
mailto:owen.cleugh@durham.gov.uk
mailto:graydon.martin@durham.gov.uk
mailto:caroline.gardner@durham.gov.uk


 
  
 

Strategic Regulation Manager 
gary.carr@durham.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

Intelligence and  
Special Investigations Manager 

Craig Hudson 
   craig hudson@durham.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Regulatory Support Manager 
Michelle Marley 

   michelle.marley2@durham.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CP Professional  
Development Manager  

Debbie Butters 
   debbie.butters@durham.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Intelligence and Special Investigations   

• Intelligence / Information sharing  

• Multi Agency Operations  

• Control of illicit tobacco /alcohol 

• Rogue Trading and Fraud 

• Criminal Consumer Complaints 

• E-crime in relation to rogue trading 

• Doorstep Crime  

• Organised and Serious Crime Disruption  

• Counterfeit Goods and Intellectual Property Crime 
 

Gypsy and Roma Traveller Services  

• Welfare  

• Community Cohesion 

• Temporary Stopover Sites 
 
 
Regulatory Support 

• Strategic Regulation  

• Systems Development 

• Web based services 

• Regulatory Compliance  

• Safety Advisory Group support 

• Regulatory and Technical Support 

• Information and Data Management 

• Performance management 

• Service Complaints 
 
 
 

CP Professional Development 

• Workforce Development & Succession Planning 

• CP Professional Training & Development  

• CP Trainee and Apprenticeship support 

• Recruitment & Selection 

• Onboarding and induction 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10

mailto:gary.carr@durham.gov.uk
mailto:craig%20hudson@durham.gov.uk
mailto:michelle.marley2@durham.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.butters@durham.gov.uk


 

 
 
  

Business Compliance Manager 
ian.harrison2@durham.gov.uk 

 
 

Health Protection Manager 
John Benson 

  john.benson@durham.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Environment Protection Manager 
Denyse Holman 

   denyse.holman@durham.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Licensing Manager 
Craig Rudman 

   craig.rudman@durham.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

Consumer Safety Manager 
Tracey Johnson (May 2023) 

   tracey.johnson@durham.gov.uk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Health Protection 

• Food Hygiene Regulation 

• Food Standards Regulation 

• Food/Environmental sampling 

• Food Alerts/Hazards 

• Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 

• Imported Food Control and Port Health 

• Feed Hygiene (non-farm) 

• Infectious Disease Control  

• Covid 19 Outbreak control  

• Community Health Surveillance 

• Health & Safety at Work Inspection 

• Accident and Complaint Investigation 
 

 

Environment Protection  

• LAIPPC / LAPPC Environmental Permitting 

• Pollution Control  

• Air Quality Management 

• Contaminated Land 

• Development Assessment  

• Planning / Licensing / SAG Consultations 

• Monitoring of Private Water Supplies  

• Petroleum Licensing 
 
Licensing 

• Alcohol and Entertainment Licensing  

• Taxi and private hire licensing  

• Gambling Licensing 

• Licensing Enforcement  

• Street Trading and Markets  

• Other licences and Permits  
 

Consumer Safety 

• Fair Trading including Estate and Letting Agents 

• Product Safety 

• Weights and Measures  

• Explosives 

• Animal Disease Control 

• Welfare of Animals (not companion unless licensed) 

• Licensing of Activities Involving Animals 

• Feed Hygiene at farm premises 

• Animal By-products  

• Age Restricted Sales 

• Supporting Scams Victims 
 

Better Business For All 

• Business Support and Advice 

• Primary Authority Partnerships 
 

Page 11

mailto:ian.harrison2@durham.gov.uk
mailto:john.benson@durham.gov.uk
mailto:denyse.holman@durham.gov.uk
mailto:craig.rudman@durham.gov.uk
mailto:tracey.johnson@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Community Protection
Joanne Waller

Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee

February 2024

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 5b



Safer                                           
Places

Owen Cleugh 

Strategic                          
Regulation

Gary Carr

Business                 
Compliance

Ian Harrison 

Intelligence & Special Investigations

Gypsy Roma Traveller Services 

Regulatory Compliance &         
Systems Development

CP Professional Development 

Health Protection 

Environment Protection  

Licensing 

Consumer Safety  / Metrology 
services

Housing Action Team 

Neighbourhood Interventions 

Safer Communities  & Community 
Action (CAT)

Horden Together 

Community Protection 
Annand House/ Horden Together Hub

Joanne Waller 

TEL: 03000 261016   EMAIL: ehcp@durham.gov.uk

P
age 14

mailto:ehcp@durham.gov.uk


Community Protection Services 
Local Authority Regulatory Services:- 

• Emergency Response & Outbreak Management – Food borne illness, Covid, Foot 
& Mouth etc

• Inspection programme – Food Hygiene & Food Standards, Health & safety at 
work; Pollution permitting; Weights and Measures; Water and Food sampling

• Escalated enforcement action – Improvement Notices Prosecution, Seizure, 
Closure orders

• Alternative interventions – Education and Advice 

• Special Investigations and projects – Covert operations, OCG disruption; Cyber 
crime

• Professions include :- Trading Standards Officers, Enforcement Officers and 
Environmental Health Officers

P
age 15



What is Environmental Health? 
Dates back to the mid 1800’s to part of Public Health Controls to tackle insanitary 
conditions in towns and cities that saw tens of thousands perish in cholera and 
influenza epidemics. . 

1844 Thomas Fresh became Liverpool’s first public health officer and shortly after 
that in 1848 the first Public Health Act was  passed which gave every town the 
right to appoint a Medical Officer of Health. 

By the 1850s, the appointment of an Inspector of Nuisances in each area was 
mandatory, and the duties had expanded; the Sanitary inspectors now also 
sniffed out foods unfit for human consumption. In 1956  Sanitary Inspectors 
(Change of Designation) Act – changed designation from ‘sanitary inspector’ to 
‘public health inspector’.

By late 60’s Public Health Inspectors became known as ‘Environmental Health 
Officers’ (EHOs).

Whilst there have been changes to the scope of the  work undertaken over the 
decades we can still recognise the roles and still have some legislation around 
from that time in place today. 

Environmental health was by the World Health Organization (WHO) as: 

Those aspects of human health and disease that are determined by factors in the 
environment. It is also referred to as the theory and practice of accessing and 
controlling factors in the environment that can potentially affect health.

Including…the effects (often indirect) on health and well being of the broad 
physical, psychological, social and cultural environment, which includes housing, 
urban development, land use and transport.

P
age 16

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/World_Health_Organization


Wider determinants of health

Dahlgren-Whitehead model of health

P
age 17



The Built Environment 
• Houses in Multiple Occupation  - (Circa >2200 properties/850 licensed HMOs) 
• Private Sector Housing  Standards (owned and private rented)

• Housing Health & Safety Rating Scheme (HHSRS)
• Defective Premises
• Protection of Buildings (Open to access / Dangers to Public Safety)
• Ruinous and dilapidated buildings
• Filthy & verminous premises (Hoarding)
• Overcrowding
• Statutory Nuisance (3500 noise complaints per annum)
• Drainage and Sanitation

• Tenancy Fees / MEES / Electrical certification
• Licensing of Mobile Homes sites including Park Homes
• Unauthorised encampments (GRTS services)

P
age 18



Environment Protection
• Air Quality – Regulated by DEFRA

• Air quality monitoring (Annual Progress Report)
• Durham City Air Quality Management Area  (5 Year action Plan)
• Regulation of the Taxi Fleet 

• Statutory Nuisance
• Fumes, 
• Dust and;  
• Odours
• Anti-social behaviour

• Pollution Control 
• Air Pollution  - Permitted installations (>100 installations)
• Light Pollution (Statutory nuisance) 
• Smoke control  / Dark Smoke / Wood burning Stoves
• Planning & Building Development

• Contaminated Land  - Regulation & Development (>10,000 land sites)

• Rural Water Supplies – Drinking water quality / sampling > 1000 suppliesP
age 19



Community Action Team (CAT)

The Community Action Scheme brings together residents and a range of organisations including 
planning, wardens housing teams, police and fire and rescue team to tackle housing and environmental issues in 
specific areas 

We normally deliver an 11 week rolling programme, moving around the county and focusing on a certain 
community each time. This breaks down into:

• two weeks of identifying issues and planning priorities 
• seven weeks of action
• two weeks of review

Community Action Scheme - Durham County Council

P
age 20

https://www.durham.gov.uk/cat


Project delivery has been split across the 
three interrelated parameters of:

Ensuring that the community is at the 
centre of planning, delivery and legacy.

• Place Based Team – Horden Hub

• > 50 partner organisations

• Making Every Adult Matter (MEAM)

• Community Resilience

• Problem Solving –  Place Issues

• Clear Hold Build – Organised and 
Serious Crime 

• Facebook pageP
age 21

https://www.facebook.com/HordenTogether/


Questions?

P
age 22



Environment and 

Sustainable Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

23 February 2024 

Bereavement Services 

 

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 

and Climate Change 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the report is to provide members of Environment and 
Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee with 
information relating to the work of Bereavement Services. 

Executive summary 

2 This report provides members of Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee with an update on 
Bereavement Services. 

3 A presentation by the Neighbourhood Protection Manager and 
Bereavement Services Manager accompanies this report. 

Recommendations 

4 That Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee receive the report and comment on it accordingly.  

Background 

5 The overall vision for all our cemeteries and crematoria is: 

• To provide a sensitive, respectful service fitting for the bereaved. 

• To ensure that sympathetic, supportive, and confidential advice is 
given to the recently bereaved on funeral service arrangements 
and give assistance in co-ordinating the funeral process if required. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6a



• To provide suitable standards of maintenance in cemeteries and 
crematoria across County Durham, working to maximise value for 
money & biodiversity. 

• To ensure the proper respect of all Council cemeteries and 
crematoria with fair Rules and Regulations, which are explained to 
all visitors. 

Statutory Requirements. 

6 Burial authorities are authorised, but not required, to provide burial 
grounds if they have available land. The Local Authorities’ Cemeteries 
Order 1977 regulates depth of burial, the need for grave and burial 
records and their storage, and the management of memorials (including 
their removal). The Order also empowers a burial authority to manage, 
regulate and control cemeteries, to lay out, repair and provide access to 
the cemetery, apply for part of the cemetery to be consecrated or set 
apart for some denominations, to provide chapels or mortuaries, to set 
certain fees and charges, and to maintain graves. 

7 Durham County Council is responsible for some 46 open cemeteries 
carrying out @ 1,200 full burials/reopen and ashes graves per year.  
Durham County Council is also responsible for some 98 closed 
churchyards. Provision of cemeteries/ closed churchyards also comes 
from Parish/ Town Councils as well as Churches. 

8 The service is also responsible for running 2 crematoriums at Mountsett 
and Durham which are managed by Joint committees working in 
partnership with other authorities. At Mountsett this is with Gateshead 
Borough Council and at Durham this is with Spennymoor Town Council. 
Overall, the service carries @ 3,900 cremations per year and 83% of 
DCC services are held through crematoria. 

9 The role of bereavement services overall is to coordinate all the areas 
identified in Appendix 2, individual elements are delivered by different 
teams from Clean and Green, Business Support and Bereavement 
Services. 

Clean and Green 

10 The Clean and Green Team deliver all the grounds maintenance 
operations associated with bereavement services i.e., grass cutting, 
flower and shrub bed maintenance, tree works, roads, footpaths, fencing 
in cemeteries/closed churchyards. 

11 They also undertaking grave digging operations and have been trained 
and have all achieved the Health and Safety and the Burial process 
certificate. This ensures all graves are dug and maintained in 
accordance with the Institute of Cemetery and Crematorium 
Management ‘Charter for the Bereaved’.  

Page 24



12 Within the Clean and Green Team, they also deal with memorial 
inspections making safe etc, in total there are more than 75,000 
memorials to be tested.  

Business Support 

13 Currently within Business support there are a couple of dedicated staff 
who deal with all aspects of cemeteries including.  

• Customer services 

i. Families (grave bookings, family searches etc) 

ii. Funeral Directors (funeral arrangements) 

iii. Memorial Masons - Memorial applications and permits. 

• Coordination of burials and memorials with the relevant teams 
after a burial has been booked. 

• Paperwork 

i. Cemetery registers and plans 

ii. Financial aspects from invoices to reconciliation 

Bereavement Services 

14 Bereavement services have 2 members of staff who deal with Memorial 
inspections, meeting families regarding unsafe headstones/damage to 
memorials, closed churchyard orders, infrastructure inspections, grave 
marking for funeral services, headstone marking for installations, faculty 
applications, complaints, etc. 

15 They also carry out ‘public health funerals’ in response to our statutory 
duties. This is covered under the provision of section 46 (i) of the Public 
Health (Control of Diseases) Act 1984, “where the County Council of 
Durham must, cause to be buried or cremated the body of any person 
who has died or been found dead in their area, in any case where it 
appears to the Council that no suitable arrangements have been or are 
being made otherwise than by the Authority”. 

16 Over the years this type of service has increased mainly due to Funeral 
Poverty which is having an affect across the UK. SunLife’s Cost of Dying 

Report’ (2024) reported that the average funeral costs £4,141. They also 
highlight that families are in debt for £2,716 on average for each funeral. 
The Northeast average cost is £3,973. Recent research also shows that 
Universal Credit is now having an effect also.  

 

17 In most instances, we are notified of the death by the Coroner’s Officer. 
The Coroner’s Office is involved in the investigation of certain deaths (for 

Page 25



example, where the cause of death is uncertain). In these cases, the 
Coroner’s Officers will make attempts to trace any relatives of the 
deceased. If the Coroner’s Office is unable to trace any relatives; or no 
person is willing or able to prepare and/or pay for a funeral; then the 
Coroner’s Office notifies Bereavement Services of the death.  

18 We may also receive notification from hospitals if a person has been 
found to be deceased upon arrival at hospital (and the Coroner’s Office is 
not involved in the investigation of the death); and there are no persons 
or relatives to arrange and/or pay for the funeral. We may also be notified 
of a death by residential homes, hospices and nursing homes. 

19 This involves carrying out house searches to identify if there is a valid 
will, any next of kin, assets etc. that may assist with the funding of the 
funeral arrangements. In carrying out this service we may also use 
genealogy companies to assist in finding next of kin. 

20 Whenever the views of the deceased are known, the funeral is arranged 
accordingly. Most funerals are cremations unless the deceased person’s 
wish to be buried has been expressed in a signed, written statement. A 
public health funeral arranged by Durham County Council includes the 
following: 

• Appropriate advice and support 

• Liaison with third parties and personnel required to arrange a 
funeral 

• provide care and preparation of the deceased 

• carry out the local removal of the deceased from either their 
home or mortuary 

• provide a standard Windsor type coffin 

• provide a hearse to attend the service at crematorium/cemetery 

• provision of a minister/ celebrant. 

Burial space 

21 Unlike Crematoriums which has a fixed asset base, burial space 
continues to be used up and maintenance of these community spaces 
 will continue ad infinitum. 

22 Therefore, we continue to look at areas in which we can suitably extend 
or create new burial grounds where possible, however this is subject to 
Environment Agency approval regarding groundwater pollution. Also, 
availability of either DCC owned land or private land that landowner may 
be willing to sell. 

Page 26



23 Several our existing cemeteries are now full, and several others are 
starting to reach a critical point where decisions need to be made to find 
alternative sites or re-locate families to the nearest existing cemetery.  

24 Work has started on a plan for the future, considering the existing 
provision, how it is being used, use of plots where exclusive rights have 
sold and the availability/ ownership of possible land. 

Woodland Burial Site 

25 An area of land to the bottom of South Road Cemetery and Durham 
crematorium which is owned by Durham County Council was established 
as a community owned woodland burial site which was created by the 
Woodland Burial Trust by way of a lease agreement, however this went 
into administration and Durham County Council have now taken this 
over and continue to work with a friend’s group on this site. 

26 The site has become popular and gives another alternative for the 
bereaved when making funeral arrangements. 

Crematoria 

27 There are two crematoria in Durham, both are partnerships and 
managed through Durham County Council. Both have separate legal 
status, Central Durham is a partnership with Spennymoor Town Council 
and Mountsett in partnership with Gateshead Borough Council as Joint 
Committees. In Durham 83% of services are through a Crematoria. 

28 All crematoria must follow the legislation in the Cremation Acts 1902, 
Cremation Regulations (England and Wales 2008), regarding the 
disposal of the dead. 

29 There are several areas of change that have affected delivery of the 
service. The main challenge to the service was the requirement (from 1st 
January 2013) for 50% of all cremations to be mercury abated. Should 
this not be achievable, legislation would be introduced whereby all 
crematoria undertaking excess of 1,970 cremations during 2003 would 
be required to install abatement equipment. 

30 The Federation of Burial and Cremation Authorities felt that rather than 
the cost of Mercury Abatement being met by the busiest crematoria the 
cost should be shared around the industry and introduced the CAMEO 
scheme (a burden sharing scheme where those who with abatement 
equipment would receive payment from those without, based on the 
number of cremations undertaken). 

31 In 2003 Durham Crematorium carried out significantly more cremations 
than the threshold set out in the 2003 legislation (1,326) and was 
therefore compelled to install equipment in line with legislation. In 

Page 27



consideration of this Members of the Joint Committee agreed to install 
abatement equipment.  

32 In 2003 Mountsett Crematorium carried out significantly less cremations 
than the threshold set and was therefore not compelled to install 
equipment in line with legislation. In consideration of this Members of the 
Joint Committee agreed that Mountsett Crematorium should join the 
CAMEO scheme rather than install abatement equipment.   

33 Whilst it was envisaged that the number of projected cremations would 
continue to be lower than the legislative threshold, there were strong 
environmental reasons why, the old cremators at Mountsett 
Crematorium were replaced with Mercury Abatement equipment. 

34 There has been significant capital investment of over £4.5m at Durham 
Crematorium since 2009, with further investments of nearly £2.3 million 
planned for the coming years in line with the Service Asset Management 
Plan for the site. The three cremators at the crematorium were installed 
in 2012/13, with full mercury abatement equipment being installed at that 
time. They have a life expectance of 20 years, so the next cremator 
replacement programme of £1.6 million, based upon today’s market 
prices, is not scheduled until approximately 2032. 

Project  Cost £ 

New additional car parking 182,899 

Crematorium extension 953,983 

New cremators and mercury abatement plant 1,292,918 

Improvement to office facilities 145,000 

Alterations to book of remembrance room 171,463 

Refurbishment of chapel 122,698 

Refurbishment of internal waiting rooms 131,819 

Replacement of copper roofing canopies 277,184 

Improvement to office 183,950 

Staff car Parking 56,466 

 

35 Since 2009 there has also been significant investment in the Mountsett 
Crematorium totalling of over £4.1m with further investments of nearly 
£1.5m planned for the coming years in line with the Service Asset 
Management Plan for the site. The two cremators at the crematorium 

Page 28



were installed in 2022, with full mercury abatement equipment being 
installed at that time. They have a life expectance of 20 years, so the next 
cremator replacement programme of £1.6 million, based upon today’s 
market prices, is not scheduled until approximately 2042. 

Project Cost £ 

Installation of Memorial Towers 21,530 

Road Widening 24,973 

Tarmac Access to Car Park 62,200 

Car Park Extension 88,398 

Cremator Replacement and Extension 1,564,515 

Energy improvement works 111.824 

Install temporary cremator 334,929 

Cremator Replacement 1,593,884 

   

Re-cycling of Metals 

36 The recycling of metals resulting from cremation is only carried out with 
the written consent of each bereaved family. Following a cremation of a 
deceased person the cremated remains contain metals such as items 
used in the construction of the coffin and on numerous occasions, 
orthopaedic implants such as hip and knee replacement joints. In the 
past this metal was removed from the cremated remains and buried 
within the grounds of the crematorium as the bereaved had never 
expressed any desire for its return to them. With the onset of modern 
waste management regulations, the Environment Agency indicated that 
once the metal is removed from the cremated remains it becomes waste 
albeit a very sensitive material. 

37 The Institute of Cemetery and Crematorium Management (I.C.C.M.) 
consulted with the Royal Dutch Cremation Federation, which has a 
metals recycling scheme currently in operation in the Netherlands and 
decided to model the UK scheme on its experiences. A specialist 
company called OrthoMetals has been contracted to provide special 
containers to UK scheme members and to carry out periodic collections. 
The recycling of pacemakers is also undertaken by the same company. 

38 The Dutch company then return a payment for the metals/pacemakers 
collected to the I.C.C.M. which is the distributed to those crematoriums 
who have nominated a death related charity. Starting in 2023 we have 
now been able to nominate more than one charity to distribute funds. 

Page 29



39 So far £340,761 has been given to local death related charities by both 
crematoriums. 

 

Memorialisation 

40 Memorialisation is the commemoration of the lives of those loved, 
revered, and respected. The cemetery and crematorium offers a number 
of ways in which memorialisation can take place, including large/small 
memorial plaques, vase blocks, niche units, seats, entries in the book of 
remembrance, miniature books, remembrance cards, memorial 
leaves and Ancillary income is generated from the sale of these, the 
majority of these can be found at both crematoriums. 

Awards 

41 In July 2009 Durham County Council were awarded The Charter for the 
Bereaved. The Charter is recognised across England as one of the top 
standards in Cemetery and Crematoria Services provision and related 
aspects of bereavement.   

42 Overall, the service provided is a valued one that has achieved a Gold 
standard through the ICCM (Institute of Cemetery and Crematorium 
Management). In November 2023, Bereavement Services was rated by 
ICCM as the eleventh best performing service in the country. 
 

43 Castleside Cemetery was awarded Cemetery of Year Honourable 
Mention 2008 and Cemetery of Year Runner-Up in 2009, 2019 and 
again in 2020. 

44 Moorside Cemetery was awarded Cemetery of Year small/medium 
burial ground silver award in 2021. 

45 There were also two green flags awarded to the crematoriums, in 
recognition of their maintenance standards and community involvement.  
 

46 As well as these awards we also take part in the Association of Public 
Service Excellence (A.P.S.E.) benchmarking. In 2016 the service was a 
finalist in the best and most improved performer category in Cemetery 
and Crematorium services. Again in 2018 we were again a finalist in this 
category. 

Fees and Charges - benchmarking 

Cremation 

47 The current cremation fees for crematoria across the region, shown in 
 the table below, indicates a current average cremation fee of £835 

Page 30

https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/57/deaths_funerals_and_cremations/470/site/scripts/documents_info.php?documentID=470&pageNumber=2
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/57/deaths_funerals_and_cremations/470/site/scripts/documents_info.php?documentID=470&pageNumber=2
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/57/deaths_funerals_and_cremations/470/site/scripts/documents_info.php?documentID=470&pageNumber=3
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/57/deaths_funerals_and_cremations/470/site/scripts/documents_info.php?documentID=470&pageNumber=3
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/57/deaths_funerals_and_cremations/470/site/scripts/documents_info.php?documentID=470&pageNumber=4


(inclusive of medical referee’s fees and environmental surcharge where 
appropriate) across the region: 

 

Crematorium Cremation Fee 

Gateshead £793.50 

Durham £810 

Stockton £865 

Hartlepool £890 

Middlesbrough £902 

North Tyneside £897 

South Tyneside £888 

Northumberland £920 

Newcastle £939 

Sunderland £924 

Coundon  £1030 

Darlington  £982 

Average  £903 

  

Burial 

48 Burial fees and charges are considered each year, overall Durham’s fees 
are just less than the regional average and have increased by inflation 
over recent years. The interment of children up to 18 years old remains 
free. In 2020/21 new charges were introduced for service cancellations 
(less than 48 hours’ notice), overrun exceeding 10 minutes, late 
attendance at the graveside (more than 20 minutes) and right of burial 
extensions from 20 to 40 years. Full details of all these charges are 
shown in Appendix 4. 

 

Page 31



Authorities Burial Fee Exclusive 

Rights of 

Burial 

Total cost 

Sunderland £1,269 £1,269 £2,538 

Northumberland £1,079 £1,139 £2,218 

Newcastle £1014 £1,153 £2,167 

Gateshead £959 £1,155 £2,114 

Hartlepool £1025 £1,439 £2,464 

Darlington  £990 £1010 £2,000 

South Tyneside £962 £1,110 £2,072 

Middlesbrough £790 £1,230 £2,020 

Durham £920 £1020 £1,940 

North Tyneside £994 £875 £1,869 

Redcar & Cleveland £830 £980 £1,810 

Stockton £735 £970 £1,705 

Average  £963 £1112 £2,076 

 

Key issues 

Sensitivity of the service 

49 This service is provided at one of the most difficult times in families lives 
having lost a loved one. This can be a difficult task and good liaison with 
funeral directors and families is important and it is done with 
understanding and sensitivity. This task should not be underestimated. 

50 Staff have also shown their commitment to the bereaved and will go all 
out to ensure that we provide the best possible service we can whilst 
being short staffed due to holidays/sickness etc. 

Regulation 

51 There are few laws of general application to burial grounds. Most burial 
law is directed at particular types of burial grounds, such as those 

Page 32



operated by local authorities (the Local Authorities’ Cemeteries Order 
1977 (LACO), as amended) or the Church of England (various 
ecclesiastical Measures, although the law relating to churchyards is 
mostly common law). However, all crematoriums must follow The 
Cremation (England and Wales) Regulations 2008.  

Funeral Poverty 

52 As Previously mentioned, Funeral Poverty is having an affect across the 
UK. The current market has a lack of transparency making it difficult to 
compare products and there are significant differentials between 
suppliers.  To help we direct families to the financial help that is available 
and provide a range of available options for families to take when 
considering services. For example, at the crematoria some slots are 
priced differently and there is a direct cremation option. There is also a 
comparison site for funeral directors’ costs https://www.funeralguide.co.uk 

so that families can compare costs. 

The Future 

 

53 Resomation a new alternative to burial and flame cremation as a human 
end of life option. A funeral involving water cremation is the same as one 
involving flame cremation until the point at which the body is committed 
from public view. Water cremation uses water-based solution to speed 
up the natural process the body goes through at the end of life. The 
body is placed in a coffin or shroud made from biodegradable materials 
and then carefully positioned in a water chamber. Instead of using fire, 
water cremation combines a water and alkali-based solution, and this 
gentle method speeds up the natural process the body goes through at 
the end of life. The process is on average 3-4 hours long and complete 
the pure white bone ash that remains is returned to the family in an urn 
as happens with flame cremation. So outside of a quieter and less 
environmentally damaging process than flame cremation the public will 
see no real difference to the funeral service process or the returning of 
ash. 

Conclusion 

54 Bereavement services continues to provide services to our communities 
at a time in life when they are most deeds. 

Background papers  

None 

Contact:  Graham Harrison Tel: 03000 265606 

Page 33

https://www.funeralguide.co.uk/


   

Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

The Council undertakes many parts of the service to meet the statutory 

requirements and within the legislation and regulations that are laid down. 

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

Not applicable 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable 

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Climate Change 

There have been significant changes within the service to contribute to the 

reduction in carbon use and this continues with new technology being 

investigated. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

 

 

Page 34



Appendix 2:  Bereavement Functions 

 

 

` 

 

Bereavement Services 

Grave Digging 

• Grave markings 
• Lifting & Levelling Graves 
• Grave Maintenance Works 
• Reinstatement of Graves 

Partnership Working 

• Friends of the Cemetery 

• Parish Councils 

Miscellaneous 

• Cemetery Gates & Fence Painting 

• Dry Stone Walling 

• Memorial Bench Maintenance 

• Maintenance of Walls & Fences 
• Attend Funerals to Direct Cortege 

to graveside 

• Attend Site Visits with Bereaved 
Public Funerals 

• Exhumations 

• Cemetery Extensions. 

Grounds Maintenance 

• Grass Cutting & Strimming  

• Tree Planting / Inspections maintenance 

• Maintenance of Footpaths and Headstones 

• Rose / Shrub / Flower Bed Maintenance 

• Hedge Border Maintenance & Hedge Cutting 

• Litter Picking 

• Weed Killing 

• Leaf / snow clearing & gritting 

• Turfing & Seeding 

• Path edging 
• Topping up Graves 
• Including closed cemeteries and graveyards 

Admin 

• Funeral / Grave and Crematorium Booking 

• Dealing with the Sale of Grave Plots 

• Deal with members of the public face to 
face as well as by telephone and letter. 

• Carry out Grave Searches. 

• Draw up map of Cemeteries. 

• Identifying Deed Holders and arrange any 
transfer of deeds. 

• Memorial Applications. 

• Transferring Information onto registers. 

• Finance/ Income generation/ Invoicing/ 
Reconciliation/ Liaising with Funeral 
Directors/ Monumental Masons 

• Issuing Permits 

• Liaising with Registry Offices 

• Ordering Stocks 

• Customer Satisfaction Service 

• Book of Remembrance. 

• Monumental Masons/ Funeral Director 
Meetings. 

• Fees & Charges 

 

Crematoriums 

Awards 

Cemetery of the Year - Runner Up 

Baby Garden - Runner Up 

Chester-Le-Street Cemetery 

Green Flag 

A.P.S.E 

Memorial Inspection Team 

• Headstone Inspections 

• All memorials must be erected in 
accordance with the National 
Association of Memorial Masons 
Specification. 

• All monumental masons must be 
registered with the Bramm register of 
Accredited Monumental Masons. 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

23 February 2024

Bereavement Services

Graham Harrison

Ian Hoult

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 6b



What will we cover?

• Statutory Duties

• Changing Demand

• Crematoria

• Cemeteries

• Future Cemetery Space

• Climate Change

• Benchmarking

• Future plans

P
age 38



Statutory 
Requirements

• Burial authorities are authorised, but not required, to 
provide burial grounds if they have available land. The 
Local Authorities’ Cemeteries Order 1977 regulates 
depth of burial, the need for grave and burial records and 
their storage, and the management of memorials 
(including their removal). The Order also empowers a 
burial authority to manage, regulate and control 
cemeteries, to lay out, repair and provide access to the 
cemetery, apply for part of the cemetery to be 
consecrated or set apart for some denominations, to 
provide chapels or mortuaries, to set certain fees and 
charges, and to maintain graves.

• This is covered under the provision of section 46 (i) of 
the Public Health (Control of Diseases) Act 1984, “where 
the County Council of Durham must, cause to be buried 
or cremated the body of any person who has died or 
been found dead in their area, in any case where it 
appears to the Council that no suitable arrangements 
have been or are being made otherwise than by the 
Authority”.

P
age 39



Links to the Council Plan

Our Economy Our 
Environment

Our People Our 
Communities

Our Council

P
age 40



Changing Customer Demand 

74%
77% 76%

80% 78% 79% 81% 81% 80% 81% 82% 80%
82% 83%

26%
23% 24%

20% 22% 21% 19% 19% 20% 19% 18% 20%
18% 17%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

% of people cremated /buried

%  cremated % buriedP
age 41



Public Health Funerals

Statutory Duty - A local authority must make arrangements 

for the funerals of people who die or are found dead in their 

area where no other arrangements are being made.

P
age 42



Crematoria
• Who provides – DCC, Mountsett & Durham (joint ventures) & private 

(Coundon)

• Provision – Wesley music system, organ, webcasting of services, 

recordings, books of remembrances, memorials, recycling of metals

• Investment & development

• Increased parking, separate book of remembrance building, energy 

improvements, chapel and office improvements. Solar panels and 

electric charging points. (+£8.6 million since 2009, +3.8million planned)

• Mercury Abatement compliance

• Awards – Charter for the Bereaved, Green flag, A.P.S.E.

• Key issues – sensitivity, regulation, funeral poverty & CovidP
age 43



Cremation numbersP
age 44



P
age 45



Mountsett Crematorium

P
age 46



Re-cycling of metals

• Metals remaining after cremation

• Ortho Metals B. V.

• Proceeds are returned to the 

crematoria by OrthoMetals.

• So far £340,761 (since 2009) 

given to local death related 

charities by both crematoriums.

P
age 47



Benchmarking

• Key points

• Delivers a surplus

• £30 price rise agreed 
for 2024/5

• Well below regional 
average

• Direct Crem option

• Early slots discounted

• Mid year price rise to 
be considered

Crematorium Cremation Fee

Gateshead £793.50

Durham £810

Stockton £865

South Tyneside £888

Hartlepool £890

North Tyneside £897

Middlesbrough £902

Average £903

Northumberland £920

Sunderland £924

Newcastle £939

Darlington £982

Coundon £1030

P
age 48



Cemeteries

P
age 49



Cemeteries
• Who provides – DCC, Parish & Faith

• Settings – Cemeteries, closed church yards & woodland site

• Provision – Burials, maintenance, headstone inspections

• Key issues – sensitivity, burial space, funeral poverty, regulation & Covid

1410
1296

1434
1316

1420
1258 1202 1146

1222 1256
1176

1316
1226 1194

500

700

900

1100

1300

1500

Total burial

P
age 50



Cemeteries – Full burial and Ashes
1186

1018
1062

940

1024

900
846

880
914

870
830

1020

828 818

224
278

372 376 396
358 356

266
308

386
346

296

398 376

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

1100

1200

Burial total Ashes total Linear (Burial total) Linear (Ashes total)P
age 51



Burial Space

• Each cemeteries has a fixed amount of space

• Parish/ Town Capacity – 5000+

• DCC capacity – 15k or 23 years

• Limited scope to expand

• Most cemeteries have an alternative within 4 miles

P
age 52



Do not expand our cemeteries

Expand at key locations

Consider travel times

Different approach for interred ashes

Burial 
Space -

Options

Work ongoing
• Available capacity
• Criteria for potential expansion

P
age 53



Cemeteries
Benchmarking

Key points

• Below regional 
average

• Inflationary rise 
(6/7%) for 
2024/5

Authority Full burial Fee
Ashes Burial fee

Exclusive rights full 
plot

Exclusive rights half 
plot

Gateshead £959 £276 £1155 £482

Durham £920 £250 £1020 £485

Stockton £735 £170 £970 £225

South Tyneside £962 £256 £1110 £256

Hartlepool £1025 £227 £1439 £896

North Tyneside £994 £254 £875 £437

Middlesbrough £790 £178 £1230 £260

Average £963 £253 £1112 £516

Northumberland £1079 £318 £1139 £421

Sunderland £1269 £326 £1269 £1119

Newcastle £1014 £307 £1153 £591

Darlington £990 £220 £1010 £505

P
age 54



Climate Change

Funeral
Care of 
body Service

After 
funeral Total

Gas Cremation 0.16 0.31 0.4 0.15 1.01

Burial 0.22 0.31 0.4 0.15 1.07

Woodland 0.19 0.31 0.4 0.15 1.04

Tonnes of CO2

P
age 55



Climate 
Change – 
Alternatives 
to Gas 
Cremation

• Developing technologies
• Electric Cremation 

• 1/5th emissions

• Resomation (water cremation)
• 1/5th emissions

• Not regulated yet

• Natural Organic Reduction
• Not regulated

P
age 56



Key Issues

• Sensitivity of the service

• Regulation

• Future Burial Provision

• Cremation alternatives

• Carbon

P
age 57



P
age 58


	Agenda
	5a Report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	Item 5 a. Appendix 2

	5b Presentation by the Head of Community Protection
	Slide 1: Community Protection
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Community Protection Services 
	Slide 4: What is Environmental Health? 
	Slide 5: Wider determinants of health
	Slide 6: The Built Environment 
	Slide 7: Environment Protection
	Slide 8: Community Action Team (CAT)
	Slide 9
	Slide 10

	6a Report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	6b Presentation by the Neighbourhood Protection Manager and Bereavement Services Manager
	Slide 1: Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 23 February 2024    Bereavement Services
	Slide 2: What will we cover?
	Slide 3: Statutory Requirements
	Slide 4: Links to the Council Plan
	Slide 5: Changing Customer Demand 
	Slide 6: Public Health Funerals
	Slide 7: Crematoria
	Slide 8: Cremation numbers
	Slide 9
	Slide 10: Mountsett Crematorium
	Slide 11: Re-cycling of metals
	Slide 12: Benchmarking
	Slide 13: Cemeteries
	Slide 14: Cemeteries
	Slide 15: Cemeteries – Full burial and Ashes
	Slide 16: Burial Space
	Slide 17
	Slide 18: Cemeteries Benchmarking
	Slide 19: Climate Change
	Slide 20: Climate Change – Alternatives to Gas Cremation
	Slide 21: Key Issues
	Slide 22


